STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from York County

John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 06 2017
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DENNIS KENNEDY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002538

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the items seized during the execution of the search warrant against appellant as it was carried out in violation of the Fourth Amendment because the underlying affidavit lacked probable cause, and included false statements, and contained insufficient corroboration from a videotape that neither the signing magistrate nor trial counsel viewed, which in turn meant further that this additional Rule Five³ violation that occurred also with respect to the unseen videotape deprived appellant of his Sixth Amendment right to present a complete defense during the Franks⁴ hearings regarding the defective affidavit and warrant held prior to trial and at trial in the case.

³ A motion to compel discovery hearing was held prior to trial during which time the defense requested the production of the videotape of the drug buy that lead to issuance of the search warrant in this case. Pretrial Hearing Transcript p. 9, l. 4-9; p. 1, l. 16-17.

⁴ 438 U.S. 154 (1978).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Dennis Demario O'Brian Kennedy was convicted of trafficking in cocaine, possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime per jury trial held at the December 2016 term of the York County General Sessions Court before Judge John C. Hayes, III. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for an aggregate period of fifteen years. Mindy Lipinski represented appellant at trial, and Assistant Solicitor Marina Hamilton appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed his convictions and sentences. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the items seized during the execution of the search warrant against appellant as it was carried out in violation of the Fourth Amendment because the underlying affidavit lacked probable cause, and included false statements, and contained insufficient corroboration from a videotape that neither the signing magistrate nor trial counsel viewed, which in turn meant further that this additional Rule Five⁵ violation that occurred also with respect to the unseen videotape deprived appellant of his Sixth Amendment right to present a complete defense during the Franks⁶ hearings held regarding the defective affidavit and warrant prior to trial and at trial in the case.

On January 7, 2016, three police officers executed a search warrant at a house where appellant was present inside. The purpose of the search was to locate a gun. During the execution of the search warrant, a gun was found under a couch cushion, and immediately thereafter, crack cocaine and cocaine were found on appellant after he was arrested and searched. Tr. 142, l. 1 - p. 153, l. 19. Also, the state introduced a statement wherein appellant stated that the gun was given to him by a friend, and that he had crack cocaine and cocaine on him at the time of his arrest. Tr. 206, l. 22 – p. 208, l. 4.

Prior to trial, counsel moved to compel the production of the videotaped drug buy in the form of a discovery request because the videotape was used as corroboration and probable cause to support the underlying affidavit for the search warrant signed by the magistrate in the case.

⁵ A motion to compel discovery hearing was held prior to trial during which time the defense requested the production of the videotape of the drug buy that lead to issuance of the search warrant in this case. Pretrial Hearing Transcript p. 9, l. 4-9; p. 1, l. 16-17.

⁶ 438 U.S. 154 (1978).

Ultimately, this was in effect the commencement of a motion to suppress as well. During the pre-trial/Franks hearing held prior to trial, counsel argued in effect that the affidavit was insufficient to support probable cause and that the challenge attacking the affidavit and search warrant would be incomplete without access to or a viewing of the videotape or the still photographs from the videotape. Apparently, the affidavit and warrant and the no knock justification emanated from a videotape of a prior drug buy from appellant. Counsel argued that a proper and complete Franks hearing could not be had without the production of this videotape. In addition, counsel argued that there were falsehoods included in the affidavit regarding appellant's alleged prior violent convictions and a lack of corroboration for the assertion that appellant was known to possess a weapon. Pre-trial Hearing Transcript Tr. 12, l. 12 – Tr. 14, l. 23; Tr. 16, l. 19 – p. 17, l. 4; Tr. 4, l. 16 – Tr. 10, l. 13.

The state argued in effect that there was no obligation to produce the videotape because appellant was not on trial for the buy that was videotaped. Pre-trial Hearing Transcript p. 6, l. 19 – p. 12, l. 11. The position of the defense was that this videotaped buy led to the affidavit and warrant and was the basis for the subsequent search, which meant appellant had a right to view and challenge the tape via a Franks hearing prior to trial and at trial. Pre-trial Hearing Transcript p. 10, l. 19 – p. 12, l. 11; Tr. 14, lines 13-23; Tr. 16, l. 1-18. Defense counsel argued further that the goal from a defense standpoint would be to fact check the affidavit and challenge the affidavit and warrant with respect to the reliability of the CI and the sufficiency of the corroboration via an inspection of the videotape. Pre-trial Hearing Transcript p. 13, lines 6-24; p. 14, l. 4-12; Tr. 16, l. 8 – p. 17, l. 2; Tr. 8, l. 18 – p. 9, l. 13. The court in effect denied the pretrial motion to compel regarding the discovery request for the videotape.

At trial and out of the presence of the jury, the issue was revisited via a motion to suppress. The defense argued that not being privy to that informant's information based on the videotape hindered the Franks challenge to the affidavit and warrant. Tr. 10, l. 17-21; Tr. 16, l. 6 – p. 17, l. 2. Defense counsel questioned the reliability and credibility of the representations made in the underlying affidavit for the search warrant. Tr. 17, l.3-4. Counsel's argument follows:

The reason for the affidavit's belief, Your Honor, it goes to say that instead of vouching for the credibility of the CI it stated that the officer was able to monitor the transaction via body wires (videotape)...[and] the CI identified Kennedy the defendant by name and photo [and] the CI communicated via cell phone although I don't know that that was ever corroborated...and then it says that the CI provided information that Kennedy regularly carried a firearm and I believe the corroboration would then [be] visible in the video of a purchase. Tr. 17, l. 19 – p. 18, l. 7

During the hearing held at trial, local magistrate Mandrile Young, who signed off on the warrant in the instant case, testified that he saw no videotape, and that there was nothing in the warrant regarding the reliability of the informant, and that the "buy" was the only thing that corroborated the informant's reliability. Tr. 19, l. 19 – p. 28, l. 10. In other words, the conclusory presentation by the police officer was the only ground for issuing the warrant. The affidavit read as follows:

The affiant received information from a confidential informant (CI) that Dennis Kennedy is selling cocaine from the residence. Within the past 72 hours, the affiant utilizing the same CI wa(s) able to make a controlled cocaine purchase from Dennis Kennedy while at the residence of 64 Reynolds St. Rock Hill, S.C. The CI was given government currency and fitted with a body wire. The CI and CI's vehicle was searched with no contraband being found. Surveillance officers followed the CI to and from the residence and di recover the cocaine after the purchase. The officer did monitor the transaction via the body wires. The CI identified Kennedy by name and a SCDMV photo. The CI communicated with the Kennedy via cell phones. Based on the affiant's training and

experience in narcotics investigations, it is common practice for drug dealers to use and store information on cell phones such as text messages (sent and received), emails (sent and received) and all incoming and outgoing calls. The CI provided information that Kennedy regularly carries a firearm. A firearm is visible in a video of the purchase. Kennedy's criminal history has convictions for violence against the police for these reason(s), the affiant is requesting a no knock warrant."

The defense's argument was in effect that the videotape of the prior informant's buy was the linchpin for the corroboration in support of the affidavit that led to the authorization for the search warrant, but yet neither the magistrate nor defense counsel viewed the videotaped buy. Furthermore, there was no mention of the informant's reliability and credibility, i.e., whether the informant had been used in the past, and whether the informant's information led to convictions in the past, and the basis for the informant's assertion that appellant allegedly carried a firearm routinely. Moreover, there was error with respect to falsehoods contained in the affidavit regarding appellant's alleged prior violent convictions when there were no plural prior convictions on his record. All of this was presented in support the defense's motion to suppress under Franks. Tr. 29, l. 4 – p. 32, l. 13. The state admitted error as to a misstatement in the search warrant regarding appellant's alleged violent priors, but maintained that the videotaped controlled buy alone was sufficient probable cause for the warrant to be issued despite the fact that neither the magistrate nor the defense team viewed the videotaped buy. Tr. 35, l. 14 – p. 43, l. 6.

The trial judge viewed the videotape in question, and then ruled that appellant's motions were in effect denied and that the search warrant contained sufficient indicia of reliability of the informant to support probable cause based on the information about there being a controlled buy at the residence by the informant and corroborating information from the video that appellant

carried a gun as there was a firearm in the videotape, but the trial judge did note that the gun was being “handled by someone but [that he could not] tell who [was] actually handling [the gun]” although the gun was present in the room.” Tr. 44, l. 20 – p. 45, l. 21. In addition, the trial judge stated that he was keeping the videotape sealed as court’s exhibit #2 for the purpose of appeal. Tr. 45, l. 8-9; Tr. 45, l. 24 – p. 46, l. 1. The trial judge admitted that the search warrant did not state who was holding the gun. Tr. 48, l. 24 – p. 49, l. 11; Tr. 49, l. 21 – p. 50, l. 3. The trial judge agreed that pistols were mobile. Tr. 50, l. 15-17.

However, because appellant was arrested for possession of a stolen weapon, the trial judge took more testimony in the matter because the question arose as to how the pistol found during the search was linked to appellant. Tr. 51, l. 11-15. Thereafter, Officer Clevenger testified in camera that he entered the residence, started searching, and found a gun located under the cushion of a couch, and that he believed that this was the pistol from the videotape and learned through dispatched after a track on the serial numbers from the gun was stolen. Officer Clevenger admitted that it was not clear from the videotape who in fact was handling the gun. Tr. 53, l. 7 – p. 56, l. 9; Tr. 60, l. 15-18. The state argued that appellant claimed that the keys found in the door (at the time the SWAT team arrived before the search) belonged to him and that appellant had constructive possession of the gun. Tr. 61, l. 24 – p. 62, l. 5; Tr. 62, l. 4. Note that multiple people were receiving mail at that residence. Tr. 60, lines 1-3. The defense argued the arrest and the gun confiscation were illegal and that the gun and drugs found on appellant should be suppressed. Tr. 64, l. 1-22.

A.) Reliability of the Confidential Informant

Nowhere in the affidavit did the issue of the reliability of the informant come into play. There was no mention in the search warrant of whether the informant had been used successfully

in the past and if arrests were made based on the use of the informant involved in this case. The fact that the informant made a controlled buy from appellant in this case was the extent of the magistrate's knowledge in the matter. There was no information given as to the reliability of the informant in this case or any basis to substantiate the informant's claim that appellant routinely carried a gun. The affidavit stated that appellant "regularly carri[e]d a firearm" sans any basis for this assertion.

As a rule, the reliability of an informant is a chief factor for the analysis in assessing the reliability of the affidavit/warrant. State v. Martin, 347 S.C. 522, 556 S.E.2d 706 (SC Ct. App. 2001). The Martin Court quoted Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S.213 (1983), regarding the test to ascertain sufficient probable cause for a warrant's issue as being a totality of the circumstances test in judging whether the magistrate made a proper "practical, common sense decision [on] whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the veracity and basis of knowledge" of persons supplying hearsay information," that probable cause existed. Under the totality of the circumstances test in these cases, all circumstances, including the basis of the knowledge and the veracity of the informant, are factors to be considered when determining whether probable cause is present to support a search warrant. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 583 S.E.2d 437 (2003). In State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 536 S.E.2d 675 (2000), the Court held that a deficiency regarding reliability or veracity could be a problem under the totality of the circumstances test outlined above. For example, in Martin, the affidavit stated the reliability of the informant by explaining that the informant's past information given had been true and correct.

In State v. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 441 S.E.2d 832 (1994), the Court reiterated the totality of the circumstances test by repeating once again that the magistrate must consider "the veracity

of the person supplying the information and the basis of his or her knowledge,” in order to decide “whether [there can be] a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. In Adolphe, the Court held that the warrant was not supported by probable cause where the affidavit stated that “an individual, positively identified by a confidential informant, as having sold crack cocaine to the confidential informant within the last 48 hours” as the presentation to the magistrate because it was unclear as to which of the confidential informants made the drug buy and/or identified the defendant as the seller, and because there was no information regarding the informant’s reliability or whether or not his conclusions were corroborated. Compare also, State v. Philpot, 317 S.C. 458, 454 S.E.2d 905 (1995), where the Court held that the search warrant affidavit was insufficient to establish probable cause for a search of the defendant’s residence because the affidavit stated that an informant saw drugs being sold at the residence, but there was “absolutely no showing of the confidential informant’s reliability” Compare further State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990), where the Court struck down the affidavit used to issue the warrant for lack of probable cause where it was stated that the informant saw the drugs in the defendant’s home, but did not “set forth any information as to the reliability of the informant.” Finally, compare State v. Robinson, 415 S.C. 600, 785 S.E.2d 355 (2016), where the Court held that the search warrant affidavit did not contain probable cause in part because a third party rather than the informant made the drug purchase to support probable cause, but there was no information given regarding the reliability of the third party “whose credibility ha[d] not been established.” By way of summary, a warrant based on the confidential informant’s information must contain information supporting the credibility of the informant and the basis of his or her knowledge. State v. Rutledge, 373 S.C. 312, 644 S.E.2d 789 (2007). Here, in appellant’s

case, no information about the reliability and veracity of the confidential informant or the basis for the informant's assertions were made available to the magistrate.

B. Corroboration of Representations Made in the Affidavit

Apparently, the police substituted the videotape of the controlled drug buy in question for the veracity of the informant. As a result, the videotape was essentially the corroboration for the informant, and therefore, said videotape should have been produced for the affidavit challenge via the Franks hearing to attack the search warrant. The trial judge viewed the videotape and found it sufficient to support the affidavit and search warrant, but defense counsel had no opportunity to view the videotape and the magistrate did not view the videotape.

As a rule, corroboration is as important as reliability and veracity with respect to the analysis of an affidavit for the existence of probable cause. Thus, corroboration is a chief component also to examine when determining if probable cause exists in an affidavit. Note the holding in Johnson, where the warrant was struck down the underlying affidavit lacked probable cause because it contained insufficient information regarding the reliability of the informant, and furthermore, the Court also struck down the warrant because the information in that affidavit was not "corroborated." See also State v. Dunbar, 354 S.C. 479, 581 S.E.2d 840 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003), where the Court held that the affidavit issued based solely on the officers relay of information about the informant's buy without corroboration as to the facts surrounding the buy rendered the affidavit defective and the warrant illegal. The Dunbar case was vacated in part and remanded based on error preservation issues. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003). Note that South Carolina law has stricter requirements that are greater than the federal Fourteenth Amendment requirements. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001) and State v. Jones, 342, S.C. 121, 536 S.E.2d 675 (2000). See also Article 1, §10 of the

South Carolina State Constitution and S.C. Code Ann § 17-13-140 (1985). Here, the only corroboration for the informant's buy was the videotape that neither defense counsel nor the magistrate issuing the warrant viewed.

C. Inclusion of False Statements in the Affidavit

The use of false or misleading information in an affidavit by police to secure a search warrant can invalidate a search warrant. In Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), the Court outlined the following two-pronged test for challenging the veracity of a search warrant affidavit: 1.) proof establishing deliberate falsehoods or a reckless disregard for the truth found in the warrant affidavit, and 2.) whether the remainder of the affidavit supports probable cause despite proof of the falsehoods. See also State v. Gore, 408 S.C. 237, 758 S.E.2d 717 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). Instructions were given in State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 536 S.E.2d 675 (2000), regarding how to conduct a Franks hearing, and how the defendant may raise an insufficient probable cause claim based on false allegations in a warrant if: 1.) the defendant's attack is more than conclusory and supported by more than a mere desire to cross-examine, and 2.) the allegations of the deliberate falsehoods alleged are accompanied by proof of the falsehoods.

In the case at bar, the defense accused police officers of making false statements about appellant within respect to the allegation that appellant regularly carried a firearm and appellant's "criminal history has convictions for violence against the police," all in request for the issuance of the "no knock" search warrant against him. Prior to trial, the solicitor here admitted that there was a misstatement in the affidavit regarding his priors being violent, but offered no proof that appellant regularly carried a gun.

Compare the affidavit in State v. Gore supra, where the officer gave misleading information that a search warrant was needed for the defendant's residence on the basis that

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