ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002538

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DENNIS DEMARIO OBRIAN KENNEDY,

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2018

Appellate Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
Moss Justice Center
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

A search warrant may only be issued upon a finding of probable cause. Bellamy, 336 S.C. at 143, 519 S.E.2d at 348. In State v. Williams, 262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-438 (1974), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

In order to justify the issuance of a search warrant, probable cause must be shown, but the term 'probable cause' does not import absolute certainty. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain a finding of probable cause, each case stands on its own facts. The evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, or a verdict of guilty, or to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; nor need the proof be positive; it being enough if it is such as to induce in the mind of the issuing officer an honest belief that the facts set forth exist, or as would lead a man of prudence to believe that the offense has been committed.

(citing State v. Bennett, 256 S.C. 234, 182 S.E.2d 291 (1971)).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the magistrate must "make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the 'veracity' and 'basis of knowledge' of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular

place.” Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). In making a probable cause determination, “magistrates are concerned with probabilities and not certainties.” State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 617, 230 S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976); see Bennett, 256 S.C. at 240-241, 182 S.E.2d at 294. Consideration should be given to the fact search warrant affidavits are typically prepared by non-lawyers in the haste of criminal investigations, and they must be viewed in a common sense and realistic fashion. State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 260, 460 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 1995). Searches based on warrants will be given judicial deference such that an otherwise marginal search may be justified as long as it meets a realistic standard of probable cause. Bennett, 256 S.C. at 241, 182 S.E.2d at 294; U.S. v. Ventresca, 380 U.S. 102, 109 (1965).

In Appellant’s case, the search warrant affidavit clearly provided probable cause for a search of the residence in question. Standing alone, the controlled buy that occurred within seventy-two hours of the swearing of the affidavit provided probable cause because it established the confidential informant conducted a drug transaction with Appellant at the address to be searched. Investigator Clevenger viewed the entire transaction via body wires and, as well as confirming the details of the drug transaction, observed a firearm in the video of the purchase. See State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 687, 583 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. App. 2003) (“An informant’s controlled buy of drugs can constitute probable cause sufficient for a magistrate to issue a warrant.”); U.S. v. Anderson, 851 F.2d 727, 729 (4th Cir. 1988) (“[T]he nexus between the place to be searched and the items to be seized may be established by the nature of the item and the normal inferences of where one would likely keep such evidence.”); State v. Scott, 303 S.C. 360, 363, 400 S.E.2d 784, 786 (Ct. App. 1991) (citation omitted) (“In the case of drug dealers, evidence is likely to be found where the dealers live.”); U.S. v. Grossman, 400 F.3d 212, 218 (4th Cir. 2005) (it is reasonable to suspect that a drug dealer stores drugs in a home to which he has a

key). The affidavit stating officers observed a confidential informant conduct a drug transaction with Appellant at the place to be searched thus provided sufficient probable cause for the search.

Appellant's principal criticisms of the search are that the affidavit did not include information regarding the reliability of the confidential informant and that, without production of the videotape of the controlled buy, the veracity of the informant could not be corroborated. These arguments lack merit and overlook the content of the affidavit in Appellant's case. Information about the reliability of the confidential informant was wholly unnecessary where Investigator Clevenger, the affiant in this case, viewed the entire transaction himself via body wires. The instant case is thus distinguishable from State v. Martin, 347 S.C. 522, 556 S.E.2d 706 (Ct. App. 2001), State v. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 441 S.E.2d 832 (Ct. App. 1994), and the other cases relied upon by Appellant. The cases cited by Appellant all deal with affidavits where the word of the confidential informant was the only thing relied upon when acquiring the search warrant, thus rendering a showing of reliability or some sort of corroboration necessary. However, in the instant case, the affidavit was not based on the mere assertion of a confidential informant, but by first-hand observation by a law enforcement officer. The confidential informant's reliability, therefore, was rendered wholly irrelevant.

While Appellant avers the videotape was necessary to corroborate the informant, this is simply not correct. No corroboration is necessary where law enforcement viewed the entire transaction via body wires. Nevertheless, there was corroboration in the current case. Investigator Clevenger corroborated the veracity of the confidential informant's claim he could buy drugs from Appellant by conducting a controlled buy using the same confidential informant, and monitoring the entirety of the buy via body wires. While Appellant urges this Court to find the affidavit uncorroborated because the magistrate and Defense Counsel did not view the

videotape, this overlooks the fact that a magistrate is not required to view a controlled buy in order to find a probable cause determination. Similarly, as will be discussed *infra*, the State was under no obligation to disclose the video of the controlled buy to Defense Counsel because Appellant did not face any charges stemming from his transaction with the confidential informant. During the hearing on Appellant's Motion to Reconsider, Judge Young testified he has **never** viewed a videotape of an undercover buy when a search warrant was signed. R. p. 39. Judge Young also noted the sworn testimony of the officer was sufficient to proceed with a no-knock warrant in this case. R. pp. 43-44. Finally, Judge Young correctly stated that, in his view, the informant was sufficiently corroborated because the confidential informant indicated he could buy drugs from Appellant, and within seventy-two hours, Investigator Clevenger watched on video as the confidential informant was able to do just that. R. p. 44. See Dupree, 354 S.C. at 691, 593 S.E.2d at 445 ("The controlled buy was evidence of the credibility and trustworthiness of the informant."). The affidavit therefore, was sufficient to provide probable cause for issuance of the search warrant.

Alleged Franks Violation

As a threshold matter, Appellant's conclusory Franks argument is not preserved for appellate review. The issue of whether a Franks violation occurred was never raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. Appellant's brief repeatedly refers to a "Franks hearing," however a Franks hearing was never conducted. Instead, Appellant only mentioned Franks in the context of wanting to review the videotape.³ Appellant's failure to properly raise the issue of a Franks violation and discuss any alleged deliberate falsehoods or statements made with reckless

³ Interestingly, the falsity Defense Counsel identified in the affidavit, that the affidavit claimed Appellant had a conviction for violence against law enforcement while his conviction was a non-violent resisting arrest conviction, had nothing to do with the videotape. Instead, it appears Appellant was simply raising the specter of a Franks violation in order to bolster his argument that he was entitled to review the videotape of the controlled buy. See R. pp. 46-47.

disregard for the truth in the affidavit. The issue of a Franks violation is thus not preserved for review by this Court. The appellate court will not consider any issues or arguments that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court, and an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised during trial. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). See also State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding a conclusory, unsupported argument was abandoned on appeal).

Preservation concerns aside, there is no evidence the search warrant affidavit was submitted with an intent to deceive or a reckless disregard for the truth. In Franks v. Delaware, the United States Supreme Court held that a defendant had the right in certain circumstances to challenge the veracity of a warrant affidavit after the warrant had been issued and executed. State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548; 553, 524 S.E.2d 394, 396 (1999). Franks outlined a two-part test for challenging the warrant affidavit's veracity. See Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155–56 (1978). First, to mandate an evidentiary hearing, there must be “allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the truth [as to statements included in the warrant affidavit], and those allegations must be accompanied by an offer of proof.” Id. at 171. At the hearing, the defendant has the burden of proving the allegations of perjury or reckless disregard for the truth by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. at 155–56; see State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 126–27, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000). Second, if deliberate falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth has been established, the court must consider the affidavit's remaining content, with the affidavit's false material set to one side, to determine if it is sufficient to establish probable cause. Id. If the court determines probable cause does not exist after the false material is omitted from the analysis, “the search warrant must be voided and the fruits of the search excluded to the same

extent as if probable cause was lacking on the face of the affidavit.” Franks, 438 U.S. at 155–56; see Missouri, 337 S.C. at 553–54, 524 S.E.2d at 396–97.

“[T]here is ‘a presumption of validity with respect to the affidavit supporting the search warrant.’” State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines, 338 S.C. 176, 195, 525 S.E.2d 872, 882 (2000) (quoting Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)). Therefore, a defendant’s attack on a search warrant affidavit must be more than conclusory; there must be allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the truth, and those allegations must be accompanied by an offer of proof. State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 554, 524 S.E.2d 394, 397 (1999).

In Appellant’s case, the “Reason for Affiant’s Belief that the Property Sought is on the Premises” section of the search warrant affidavit states as follows:

The affiant, D.H. Clevenger, who is a certified law enforcement officer assigned to the York County Multijurisdictional Drug Unit (YCMDEU) and has several years experience to include narcotics investigations, states the following facts to support probable cause to search [Appellant’s address]. The affiant received information from a confidential informant (CI) that [Appellant] is selling cocaine at the residence. Within the past 72 hours, the affiant utilizing the same CI was able to make a controlled cocaine purchase from [Appellant] while at the residence of [Appellant’s residence]. The CI was given government currency and fitted with a body wire. The CI and the CI’s vehicle were searched with no contraband being found. Surveillance officers followed the CI to and from the residence and did recover the cocaine after the purchase. The officer did monitor the transaction via the body wires. The CI identified [Appellant] by name and a SCDMV photo. The CI communicated with [Appellant] via cell phones. Based on the affiant’s training and experience in narcotics investigations, it is common practice for drug dealers to use and store information on cell phones such as text messages (sent and received), e-mails (sent and received) and all incoming and outgoing calls. The CI provided information that [Appellant] regularly carries a firearm. A firearm is visible in a video of the purchase. [Appellant’s] criminal history has convictions for violence against police. For these reason, the affiant is requesting a no knock warrant.

R. p. 289.

The only portions of the affidavit Appellant alleges are false deal with the reasons the affiant requested a no-knock warrant and do not affect the underlying probable cause for the warrant itself. Appellant asserts that the misstatement in the affidavit regarding Appellant having prior convictions for violence against police officers constitutes a false statement that should invalidate the warrant.⁴ Appellant also complains that the State never offered any proof of the statement in the affidavit that he regularly carried a gun. Br. of App. p. 11.

As to the mistake in the affidavit concerning Appellant's prior conviction, Appellant does not make any specific argument that the falsehood was deliberate nor has he presented any evidence supporting the proposition that the mistake in the affidavit was made either deliberately or with reckless disregard for the truth. While Investigator Clevenger made a mistake concerning Appellant's prior conviction, that mistake did not factor into the underlying probable cause. Further, as was acknowledged by the trial judge, there was still an adequate basis for the no-knock aspect of the warrant based on the firearm in the video and the fact that the confidential informant provided information that Appellant regularly carried a firearm.⁵ Therefore, there is no evidence that Investigator Clevenger knowingly, intentionally, or recklessly provided incorrect or misleading information which was critical to probable cause in the affidavit.

As to Appellant's argument that the State failed to offer proof that he regularly carried a gun, as was alleged in the affidavit, Appellant misapprehends the State's burden in a Franks analysis. It is not incumbent on the State to prove every aspect of the affidavit is true; rather, it is the defendant's burden to establish the affidavit contained deliberate falsehoods or statements made with a reckless disregard for the truth. See State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game

⁴ Despite the fact that no testimony was taken on the matter, Defense Counsel's account of the situation appears to be accurate. At the time he sought the warrant, Investigator Clevenger mistakenly thought Appellant had a prior conviction for violating S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320 (b), while Appellant actually had a conviction for resisting arrest in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(a).

⁵ After viewing the video, the trial judge confirmed there was a firearm in the video. R. p. 62.

Machines, 338 S.C. at 195, 525 S.E.2d at 882 (noting that “there is ‘a presumption of validity with respect to the affidavit supporting the search warrant’”) (quoting Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)); State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394 (1999) (a defendant’s attack on a search warrant affidavit must be more than conclusory; there must be allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the truth, and those allegations must be accompanied by an offer of proof). Appellant’s assertion that the statement in the affidavit that he regularly carried a firearm is false is therefore conclusory and without merit. Thus, because there was no Franks violation, Petitioner’s argument must be rejected.

Alleged Rule 5 Violation

In his argument heading, Appellant argues, “. . . which in turn meant further that this Rule Five violation that occurred also with respect to the unseen videotape deprived appellant of his Sixth Amendment right to present a complete defense during the Franks hearings regarding the defective affidavit and warrant held prior to trial and at trial in this case.” Br. of App. p. 1. Aside from this conclusory statement, Appellant offers no substantive argument concerning a Rule 5 violation in his brief. Appellate courts will not consider arguments or issues raised on appeal in a conclusory or unsupported manner. Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard, 400 S.C. 246, 252, n. 3, 734 S.E.2d 161, 164 (2012). See also State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding a conclusory, unsupported argument was abandoned on appeal). This Court should, therefore, disregard Appellant’s vague statements concerning Rule 5.

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